1981

State of Utah v. Larry Elliott and William H. Clayton : Appellants' Brief

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellants were charged by information, filed on 5 June 1980, for violating provisions of Section 76-5-405(1) (a) (ii), U.C.A. (1953), to wit: engaging in a sexual act involving the genitals of one person and the mouth of another, without the consent of the victim, DENNIS FRAZIER, compelling submission to the said sexual act by the threat of death or serious bodily injury to be inflicted imminently on the said DENNIS FRAZIER.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellants were found not guilty of violating Section 76-5-405(1) (a) (ii), but were found guilty of violating Section 76-5-403(2), forcible sodomy, a lesser included offense. Both Appellants were subsequently committed to the Utah State Prison to serve terms of not less than one year nor more than fifteen years.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants respectfully seek reversal of the lower Court's judgment or, alternatively, an order remanding the case for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants' case was submitted to the jury with the Court's instructions and three sets of acceptable verdict. Those

instructions and verdicts allowed that the jury might find Appellants either guilty of aggravated sexual assault, guilty of forcible sodomy, or not guilty (see pages 47, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, and 57 of the Record on Appeal).

ARGUMENTS

POINT I: Appellants were entitled to have the jury instructed relative to all lesser included offenses not necessarily precluded by the evidence.

Amendment number XIV, Section 1, of the Constitution of the United States provides, inter alia, that no State shall "deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws." Likewise the Constitution of Utah in Article I, Section 2 declares that governmental powers are "for (the people's) equal protection" and in Article I, Section 7 that "no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." Section 76-1-402(4) U.C.A. (1953), directs that "the Court shall not be obligated to charge the jury with respect to an included offense unless there is a rational basis for a verdict acquitting the defendant of the offense charged and convicting him of the included offense."

Appellants assert that there existed such a rational basis to believe they were not guilty of the offense charged but guilty of certain lesser included offenses that were not offered to the jury; that the Court was obligated to instruct the jury with

respect to those included offenses; that they were, therefore, denied equal protection and due process of the law in that their convictions were entered in violation of Section 76-1-402(4).

The Court has many times passed on a defendant's right to have lessor included offenses offered to the jury:

One of the fundamental principles in regard to the submission of issues to the juries is that where the parties so request, they are entitled to have instructions given upon their theory of the case; and this includes on lessor offenses if any reasonable view of the evidence would support such a verdict. This is in accord with the authorities generally and with the adjudications of this Court, as stated in a number of cases dealing with instructing on lessor offenses. State v. Gillian, 463 P2d 811 (1970). See State v. Castillo, 457 P2d 618; State v. Hyams, 230 P 349 (1924); State v. Thompson, 170 P2d 153 (1946); Stevenson v. United States, 16 S.Ct. 839; State v. Johnson, 185 P2d 738 (1947).

We have held that each party is entitled to have his theory of the case which is supported by competent evidence submitted to the jury by appropriate instructions; and the failure to present for the jury's consideration a party's theory by appropriate instructions is reversible error. State v. Newton, 144 P2d 290 (1943).

If in a case of different degrees of charged greater offense, there is sufficient evidence to submit the case to the jury of the charged greater offense, I do not see wherein it is the prerogative of the Court to direct the jury of what degree only the jury may find the defendant guilty, or to direct them that, if they do not find him guilty of the charged greater offense they must acquit him. To permit the Court to do that is to permit it to be the judge of the facts. State v. Ferguson, 279 P.55 (1929).

The well established general rule, that the jury should be instructed on lessor included offenses when such a conviction would be warranted by any reasonable view of the evidence, is in accord with and supported by our statutory law. State v. Close, 499 P2d 287 (1972).

Each party is, however, entitled to have the jury instructed on the law applicable to its theory of the case if there is any reasonable basis in the evidence to justify it. State v. Torres, 619 P2d 694 (1980).

. . . . if there be any evidence, however slight, on any reasonable theory of the case under which the Defendant might be convicted of a lesser included offense, the Court must, if requested, give an appropriate instruction. State v. Dougherty, 550 P2d 175 (1976).

Instructions on the lesser offense may be given because all elements of the lesser offense have been proven. Such an instruction may properly be refused if the prosecution has met its burden of proof on the greater offense, and there is no evidence tending to reduce the greater offense. If there be any evidence, however slight, on any reasonable theory of the case under which Defendant might be convicted of a lesser included offense, the trial Court must, if requested, give an appropriate instruction. (Emphasis added by the Court). State v. Chesnut, 621 P2d 1228 (1980).

Other states take identical positions regarding instructing relative to lesser included offenses. See, for example, Bowers v. People, 617 P2d 560 (1980) at 562, and People v. Glenn, 615 P2d 700 (1980) at 705, both Colorado cases; and State v. Jimerson, 618 P2d 1027 (1980) at 1029, a Washington state case.

The law seems to be, then, that if any evidence is presented that would cause reasonable jurors to convict on a lesser offense and acquit on the greater, the jury must be instructed relative to those lesser included offenses. Appellants claim such evidence was introduced so that instructions on lesser included offenses were required. This brief will argue for the existence of such evidence in Point III, below.

POINT II: This Court may review the trial Court's refusal to instruct on all lesser included offenses whether or not trial counsel objected thereto.

At the trial of this matter, Defendant ELLIOTT was represented by Mr. CASEY CHRISTENSEN, ESQ.; Defendant CLAYTON was

represented by Mr. STEPHEN R. MADSEN, ESQ. (see pages 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, and 39 of the Record on Appeal); Defendant ELLIOTT apparently did not file a written request. Part of Defendant CLAYTON'S request was an instruction on the lessor included offense of assault by a prisoner (see page 37 of the Record on Appeal).

The Minute Entry designated as "Trial" indicates that on the second day of the trial, prior to reading the instructions to the jury, the Court met with counsel in chambers relative to jury instructions (see page 60 of the Record on Appeal). The transcript of the trial, at Page 237, line 1, indicates that Defendant ELLIOTT, through his counsel, objected to the Court's refusal to instruct on the lessor included offenses of assault and aggravated assault.

Appellants claim there is authority for this Court to exercise its discretion and assign error to the trial Court's instructions if they omitted charges relative to additional lessor included offenses for which evidence would support convictions. Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, No. 51, Instructions to Jury: Objections, prescribes, "No party may assign as error the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto. In objecting to the giving of an instruction, a party must state distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds to his objections. Notwithstanding the foregoing requirement, the appellate Court, in its discretion and in the interest of justice, may review the giving or failure to give an

instruction. Similarly the Utah Code of Criminal Procedure, Rule 19-Instructions, states in paragraph (c) "No party may assign as error any portion of the charge or omission therefrom unless he objects thereto before the jury is instructed, stating distinctly the matter to which he objects and the ground of his objection. Notwithstanding a party's failure to object, error may be assigned to instructions in order to avoid manifest injustice." Case law also supports such assignment of error by a reviewing Court, absent counsel's failure to request instructions at time of trial:

. . . in capital cases and in cases of grave and serious charged offenses and convictions of long terms of imprisonment, cases involving the life and liberty of the citizen, we think that when palpable error is made to appear on the face of the record and to the manifest prejudice of the accused, the Court has the power to notice such error and to correct the same, though no formal exception was taken to the ruling. August v. U.S., 257 F. 388 (1918).

Speaking of this rule that no review will be had of instructions or refusals to instruct where no exception was taken, this Court has reached the same conclusion as did the above Federal Court ruling:

Such rule, however, is not uniform as to all errors so committed. In many jurisdictions there are well recognized exceptions to the general rule, especially in criminal cases involving capital offenses or other grave and serious offenses of long term imprisonment, and sometimes has even been applied in civil cases, when palpable error on the face of the record involved violations of fundamental rights and privileges of manifest prejudice to the party aggrieved. State v. Cobo, 60 P2d 592 (1936).

The reason the rule is sometimes relaxed to allow appellate review where no objection or exceptions were taken at the trial level is because instructions on lesser included offenses are fundamental to the Defendant's case. Because those instructions

are vital to the Defendant, the trial Court should alert the jury if even on its own motion:

This Court in a number of decisions has affirmed the rule above stated requiring the submission of lessor included offenses when the evidence and circumstances so justify, and has gone further in indicating that even in the absence of an appropriate objection, if it is clear that the interests of justice so require, that the Court should instruct on included offenses. State v. Close, supra.

The Kansas Supreme Court spoke similarly of instructions on lessor included offenses saying:

Such an instruction is required even though such instructions have not been requested or have been objected to. State v. Mark's, 602 P2d 1344 (1979).

The Arizona appellate Court ruled:

Where the matter is vital to the rights of a defendant, however, the trial judge is required to instruct on its own motion, even if the Defendant fails to request him to do so. State v. Baker, 617 P2d 39 (1980).

Appellants assert their case meets all criteria for this Court to exercise its discretion to review the trial Court's omission of certain lessor included offenses in its instructions to the jury: 1) Rules 51 and 19(c) vest this Court with such authority, 2) case law indicates such instructions are fundamental and vital to Appellants' rights to due process, 3) Appellants were charged with violating a felony of the first degree--a grave and serious offense, 4) Appellants were convicted of a felony of the second degree--a conviction of long term imprisonment, 5) the Trial Court did not act on its own to adequately instruct the jury, 6) the evidence supports convictions on various lessor included offenses, as will be shown in Point III, below.

POINT III: Appellants were entitled to have the jury instructed that a verdict could have been returned on any of the following lesser included offenses:

- Section 76-5-103.5, U.C.A. (1953), aggravated assault by a prisoner, a 2nd degree felony;
- Section 76-5-403(2), U.C.A. (1953), forcible sodomy, a 2nd degree felony;
- Section 76-4-101, U.C.A. (1953), attempted forcible sodomy, a 3rd degree felony;
- Section 76-5-404(1), U.C.A. (1953), forcible sexual abuse, a 3rd degree felony;
- Section 76-5-102.5, U.C.A. (1953), assault by a prisoner, a 3rd degree felony.

As shown in Point I, instructions on lesser included offenses must be given if any evidence is produced at trial which would support a conviction on such included offense; such instructions may be omitted only if no evidence is produced to support a conviction on the included offense.

It is conceded that the evidence produced at the trial of this matter is consistent insofar as it establishes that both Defendants were inmates of the Utah County Jail on 4 May 1980, the date of the incident for which they were tried. The evidence also consistently establishes that on that date both Defendants made unlawful physical contact with their victim, repeatedly, without his consent, and against his efforts. But much of the rest of the evidence is conflicting.

Some of the evidence indicated that the Defendants "used a means or force likely to produce death or serious bodily injury" or threatened their victim with "death or serious bodily injury to be inflicted imminently." See witness DENNIS FRAZIER'S testimony at:

page 28, line 23 to page 29, line 12;
page 43, line 1 to page 43, line 12;
page 47, line 20 to page 48, line 6;
page 70, line 14 to page 72, line 8;
page 73, line 9 to page 73, line 27;

See also witness CARL HOWE'S testimony at:

page 144, line 19 to page 144, line 29.

But other evidence did not substantiate the contention that Defendants used or threatened death or serious bodily injury.

See WILLIAM CLAYTON'S testimony at:

page 161, line 21 to page 161, line 28;
page 164, line 21 to page 164, line 29.

See LARRY ELLIOTT'S testimony at:

page 177, line 4 to page 177, line 10;
page 181, line 6 to page 181, line 18;
page 185, line 1 to page 186, line 10;
page 186, line 14 to page 187, line 12;

Some of the testimony seemed to establish that on one or more occasions one or both of the Defendants touched genitals to the mouth of DENNIS FRAZIER. See DENNIS FRAZIER'S testimony at:

page 32, line 10 to page 32, line 23;
page 34, line 9 to page 34, line 16;
page 37, line 24 to page 38, line 13;
page 45, line 24 to page 46, line 4.

BRAD PERRY testified similarly:

page 111, line 9 to page 111, line 11;
page 118, lines 24 to 29.

However, other witnesses testified that, while the Defendants displayed their genitals, there was not the contact

between them and the victim's mouth necessary to constitute the offense of sodomy. See MICHAEL TAYLOR'S testimony at:

page 98, line 30 to page 99, line 12;
page 100, lines 5 through 8.

See CARL HOWE'S testimony at:

page 146, line 7 to page 146, line 13;
page 146, line 18 to page 146, line 21;
page 147, line 4 to page 147, line 9;
page 150, line 1 to page 150, line 13;
page 151, line 1 to page 151, line 15.

See WILLIAM CLAYTON'S testimony at:

page 158, lines 18 through 22;
page 159, lines 17 through 22;
page 172, line 29 to page 173, line 7.

See LARRY ELLIOTT'S testimony at:

page 176, line 25 to page 177, line 3;
page 177, lines 11 through 15;
page 184, lines 7 through 18.

Given the foregoing conflicting testimony, the jury could have rationally found either for or against the existence of threats of imminent death or serious bodily injury. In fact, the jury did return a verdict that found such a threat did not exist. Likewise, the jury could have concluded rationally either way on the issue of whether or not there was a touching of the Defendants' genitals with the victim's mouth. However, the instructions and verdict blanks given to the jury at the trial removed from them the option of returning a verdict that reflected a finding that there were no such touchings or threats. And denying the jury that option does not comply with the weight of the authority of case law which prescribes that instructions on lesser included offenses must be given if there exists any evidence to support a conviction on the included

offense.

Applying these rational and possible findings of facts, the jury could have returned verdicts convicting one or both Defendants of any of the following lessor included offenses which they were not instructed to consider at the time of trial:

1. Aggravated assault by a prisoner a) threats or attempts to do bodily injury, b) use or threats of deadly force, c) Defendants were prisoners by statutory definition, d) but no sodomistic touching;

2. Assault by a prisoner a) threats or attempts to do bodily injury, b) Defendants were prisoners by definition, c) but no use or threats of deadly force, and d) no sodomistic touching;

3. Attempted forcible sodomy a) attempts at, but no fruition of sodomistic touching, b) attempts made without the victim's consent;

4. Forcible sexual abuse a) no sodomistic touching nor attempts at sodomistic touching, b) but the taking of indecent liberties with the victim and an intent to cause substantial emotional or bodily pain to the victim, without the consent of the victim.

CONCLUSIONS

Case law from the Federal system, from this Court, and from other state Supreme Courts holds that a criminal defendant is entitled to have his jury instructed relevant to all lessor included offenses if there is any evidence to support a conviction on such lessor offense. The trial Court may omit such

instructions only if there is no evidence to support a conviction on an included offense. Defendants' entitlement to such instructions is fundamental to the preservation of their rights to due process.

Because this right is so vital to the Defendants, the trial Court is obliged to see to it that the jury is instructed on the availability of convictions for lesser included offenses, if even on its own motion, notwithstanding Defendants' failure to request those instructions, and in spite of the opposition's objection to such instructions. Further, statutory and case law permit appellate review of the trial Court's omissions of such instructions even though Defendants did not adequately record objections thereto, because the right abridged is vital to Defendants, the penalties and loss of liberty are potentially severe, and the evidence supported instructions, on all lesser included offenses.

Testimonial evidence introduced at the trial of Defendants establishes that there was much evidence that would have supported convictions on several lesser included offenses that were not offered to the jury. As a result, the jury was allowed to consider only one included offense--a 2nd degree felony--and was not allowed to consider four other included offenses--one 2nd degree felony and three 3rd degree felonies.

It is likely that the jury--while convinced that "a" crime had been committed--returned guilty verdicts for forcible sodomy charges only because they had no other lesser included offenses

to choose from. Defendants were, therefore, denied due process of law and equal protection of the laws in violation of the Constitutions of both the United State and of Utah as well as Section 76-1-402(4), U.C.A. (1953).