1981

State of Utah v. Larry Elliott and William H. Clayton : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT GAVE AN INSTRUCTION
ON THE ONLY APPROPRIATE LESSER
INCLUDED OFFENSE OF FORCIBLE SODOMY.

The appellant's contention that error occurred as a result of the trial court's failure to give an instruction on the lesser included offense of forcible sodomy in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-403 (1953, as amended) is without merit. The appellants were convicted of this crime after the judge issued instruction No. 10 which provides:

You may find either of the defendants
guilty of any offense which is necessarily

included in the charge of aggravated sexual assault as charged in the Information, if in your judgment, the evidence supports such a verdict under these instructions.

To enable you to apply the foregoing instructions, you are instructed that the offense of aggravated sexual assault, as charged in the Information, necessarily includes the crime of "forcible sodomy," which is a lesser offense, the elements of which are stated in paragraphs Numbered "1" and "2" of Instruction No. 7.

If you find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendants are guilty of an offense included within the charge in the Information, but entertain a reasonable doubt as to the crime of which they are guilty, it is your duty to convict them only of the lesser offense.

(R. 49).

The elements of forcible sodomy as listed in instruction No. 7 provide:

1. That on or about the 4th day of May, 1980, at Utah County, Utah, the defendants, William Clayton and Larry Elliott, did engage in a sexual act involving the genitals of defendants and the mouth of Dennis Frazier.
2. That such sexual act was committed without consent of Dennis Frazier.

These elements are consistent with § 76-5-403 Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended) which provides:

- (1) A person commits sodomy when he engages in any sexual act involving the genitals of one person and the mouth or anus of another person, regardless of the sex of either participant.
- (2) A person commits forcible sodomy when he commits sodomy upon another without the other's consent.

Thus the appellants contention of error is without merit, since the trial court adequately instructed the jury on the lesser included offense of forcible sodomy § 76-5-403 Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended).

POINT II

INSTRUCTIONS, RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL, ARE NOT REVIEWABLE UNLESS A FAILURE TO GIVE THEM SUA SPONTE, RESULTED IN A MANIFEST INJUSTICE; NO SUCH INJUSTICE HAS BEEN SHOWN.

Respondent does not dispute the basic premise that a defendant in a criminal case should be allowed to present his theory of the case to the jury. However, in State v. Hendricks, 596 P.2d 633 (Utah 1979) this Court recognized that "the right is not absolute, and a defense theory must be supported by a certain quantum of evidence before an instruction as to an included offense need be given." See also, State v. Close, 28 Utah 2d 144, 499 P.2d 287 (1972); State v. McCarthy, 25 Utah 2d 425, 483 P.2d 890 (1971); State v. Johnson, 112 Utah 130, 185 P.2d 738 (1947). Because the right is not unlimited, the trial court is not necessarily bound to give all instructions relating to defense theories simply because they are requested or characterized by the defendant as reflecting his theory of the case. This is especially true where the defendant does not request an

instruction. In such a case, the decision to give an instruction is totally within the discretion of the trial court. Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure § 77-35-19(c) provides:

No party may assign as error any portion of the charge or omission therefrom unless he objects thereto before the jury is instructed, stating distinctly the matter to which he objects and the ground of his objection. Notwithstanding a party's failure to object, error may be assigned to instructions in order to avoid manifest injustice.

As here demonstrated, the general rule is that error will not be assigned to instructions given to the jury unless objections to those instructions or omissions are made in the trial court. Even though a party may raise error on appeal based on something not objected to below this should only be allowed where manifest injustice would result if the claim of error was not allowed.

The statute is based upon sound policy considerations. Attorneys must be required to call a court's attention to potential errors which could be avoided or corrected at the time. Otherwise an attorney could invite error or intentionally fail to call a courts attention to correctable reversible error, thus ensuring two chances to win his case if he or she loses at the trial. With the invited error, he or she

can appeal and obtain a second trial, where one trial would have sufficed. Thus the system could be bogged down in costly, unnecessary appeals and new trials. See Simpson v. General Motors Corp., infra at 9.

In the present case the trial court correctly issued instructions to the jury which gave them three alternatives. The jury could find the defendants guilty of aggravated sexual assault in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-405(1)(a)(ii) (1953, as amended), or guilty of forcible sodomy in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-403 (1953, as amended) or they could have found them not guilty of any crime if the evidence was insufficient to support guilty verdicts beyond a reasonable doubt. The evidence was either sufficient to establish their guilt on the crimes instructed or insufficient to find them guilty at all. The instructions which the appellants now, for the first time on appeal, claimed are applicable, are discussed in Points III and IV, infra.

There has been no showing of manifest injustice to the appellants by the trial court's not giving the instructions which they now claim are applicable. Absent such a demonstration, this Court should not review the instructions raised by the appellants for the first time on appeal.

The appellants, after failing in the requests they did make below, now attempt, for the first time on appeal, to raise other allegedly applicable instructions. In Simpson v. General Motors Corporation, 24 Utah 2d 301, 470 P.2d 399 (1970) this Court said:

Orderly procedure, whose proper purpose is the final settlement of controversies, requires that a party must present his entire case and his theory or theories of recovery to the trial court; and having done so, he cannot thereafter change to some different theory and thus attempt to keep in motion a merry-go-round of litigation.

470 P.2d at 401. See also: State v. Treadway, 28 Utah 2d 160, 499 P.2d 846 (1972); State v. Starlight Club, 17 Utah 2d 174, 406 P.2d 912 (1965).

The trial court was given no opportunity to rule on the applicability of the requested instructions. There was no request for many of the instructions now raised on appeal and in the absence of a showing of manifest injustice to the appellants, the instructions should not be reviewed by this Court.

POINT III

INSTRUCTIONS, RAISED NOW FOR THE FIRST TIME, ON APPEAL, AND THE REQUESTED INSTRUCTION OF ASSAULT BY A PRISONER ARE NOT LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES OF AGGRAVATED SEXUAL ASSAULT.

In addition to an instruction on forcible sodomy discussed in Point I, supra, the appellants contend that the trial court erred in not giving instruction on:

1) assault by a prisoner in violation of § 76-5-102.5 Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended); 2) aggravated assault by a prisoner in violation of § 76-5-103.5 Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended); 3) attempted forcible sodomy in violation of § 76-4-101 Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended); and 4) forcible sexual abuse in violation of § 76-5-404(1) Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended). Further they state that this error should be the basis of reversal regardless of the fact that there was only an objection to the failure to give the assault by a prisoner instruction by only one of the appellants--appellant Elliott. As noted above, all the other instructions are not properly before this Court.

However, if this Court should decide to review the appellants' requested instructions it will find that these instructions are not lesser included offenses and thus need not have been given.

The standard through which an offense is determined to be lesser and included in another offense is well established.

Under Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-402(3)(a) (1953, as amended), a defendant may be convicted of an offense included in the offense charged when:

(a) It is established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to establish the commission of the offense charged . . .

This statute codifies the so-called "same evidence" test for an included offense as defined in previous case law. See State v. Brennan, 13 Utah 2d 198, 371 P.2d 27 (1962); State v. Sunter, 550 P.2d 184 (Utah 1976); and State v. Woolman, 84 Utah 23, 33 P.2d 645 (1934).

In State v. Brennan, supra, the Court elaborated on the definition of a lesser included offense and stated:

The rule as to when one offense is included in another is that the greater offense includes a lesser one when establishment of the greater would necessarily include proof of all the elements necessary to prove the lesser. Conversely, it is only when the proof of the lesser offense requires some element not involved in the greater offense that the lesser would not be an included offense.

13 Utah 2d at 197, 371 P.2d at 29 (emphasis added).

Thus, in accordance with both the statutory and judicial

definitions of a lesser included offense, it is necessary to look to the legal elements of the crimes to see if the "alleged" lesser included offenses only contain elements which are not part of the greater offense.

The instructions proffered by the appellants, for the first time on appeal, are not within this standard and thus are not lesser included offenses of aggravated sexual assault.

Appellant Elliott, in the court below, objected to the court's denial of his request for a "lesser included offense" instruction on assault by a prisoner (T.237). Appellant's requested instruction provided:

If you do not find the defendants guilty of aggravated [sic] sexual assault, you may find the defendants guilty of the lesser included offense of assault by a prisoner.

76-5-102.5 Assault by prisoner.--Any prisoner who commits assault, intending to cause bodily injury, is guilty of a felony of the third degree.

76-5-102. Assault-(1) Assault is:

(a) An attempt, with unlawful force or violence, to do bodily injury to another; or

(b) A threat, accompanied by a show of immediate force or violence, to do bodily injury to another.

76-5-101. "Prisoner" defined.--For purpose of this part "prisoner" means any person who is in custody of a peace officer pursuant to a lawful arrest or who is confined in a jail or other penal [sic] institution regardless of whether the confinement is legal.

The trial court's refusal to give the appellants' proffered instruction was totally correct.

Under § 76-5-405 Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended) aggravated sexual assault is defined as:

- (1) A person commits aggravated sexual assault if:
 - (a) In the course of a rape or attempted rape or forcible sodomy or attempted forcible sodomy:
 - (i) The actor causes serious bodily injury to the victim; or
 - (ii) The actor compels submission to the rape or forcible sodomy by threat of kidnapping, death, or serious bodily injury to be inflicted imminently on any person.

The crime of assault by a prisoner is defined in § 76-5-102.5 as follows:

Any prisoner who commits assault, intending to cause bodily injury, is guilty of a felony of the third degree.

The elements of the alleged lesser offense include an element which is not necessary to the proof of the alleged greater offense of aggravated sexual assault. In order to establish assault by a prisoner there must be proof that the defendant was in fact a prisoner when the act occurred. On the other hand, the crime of aggravated sexual assault does not require proof of this element. An individual may be convicted of aggravated sexual assault regardless of whether or not he is a prisoner, thus "proof of the lesser

offense requires some element not involved in the greater offense" State v. Brennan, supra, which means that the alleged lesser offense is not a lesser included offense of aggravated sexual assault.

Similar to assault by a prisoner, immediately preceding, the aggravated assault by a prisoner statute contains an element which is not present in the aggravated sexual assault statute. Namely that the actor was a prisoner when the assault occurred. Since this is not an element of the "greater offense," the aggravated sexual assault statute does not come within the lesser included offense standard of State v. Brennan, supra, and it is clear that aggravated assault by a prisoner is not a lesser included offense of aggravated sexual assault.

Also, aggravated assault by a prisoner cannot be a "lesser" included offense because it carries the same penalty as the crime with which the appellants were charged. Both crimes are second degree felonies.

Forcible sexual abuse also contains elements necessary to conviction which are not present in the aggravated sexual assault offense, thus forcible sexual abuse is not a lesser included offense of aggravated sexual assault.

The forcible sexual abuse statute § 76-5-404 provides:

—(1) A person commits forcible sexual abuse if, under circumstances not amounting to rape or sodomy, or attempted rape or sodomy, he touches the anus or any part of the genitals of another, or otherwise takes indecent liberties with another, or causes another to take indecent liberties with himself or another, with intent to cause substantial emotional or bodily pain to any person or with the intent to arouse or gratify the sexual desire of any person, without the consent of the other.

(2) Forcible sexual abuse is a felony of the third degree.

The forcible sexual assault statute is aimed at punishing the taking of indecent liberties with the intent to cause emotional or bodily pain or the intent to arouse or gratify the sexual desire of any person. This intent element is not the same as the intent element found in the aggravated sexual assault statute and thus forcible sexual abuse "requires some element not involved in the greater offense" of aggravated sexual assault. Therefore, in accordance with State v. Brennan, supra, forcible sexual abuse is not a lesser included offense of aggravated sexual assault.

"Attempts" to commit a crime are statutorily declared included offenses in § 76-1-402(3)(b) Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended). Thus attempted forcible sodomy, is an included offense of forcible sodomy which is a lesser

included offense of aggravated sexual assault, the original charge against the appellants. However, the circumstances of this case made the giving an instruction on attempted forcible sodomy inappropriate. (See Point IV below).

POINT IV

ASSUMING, THAT INSTRUCTIONS NOW RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL, COULD BE CONSIDERED INCLUDED OFFENSES, THEY WERE INCONSISTENT WITH APPELLANTS' EVIDENCE AND THEORY OF THE CASE, AND NOT JUSTIFIED IN THE CIRCUMSTANCES.

Even if, arguendo, all of the instructions raised by the appellants' on appeal, are somehow considered lesser included offenses, the requested instructions would still be inappropriate. Included offense instructions need not be given unless there is evidence to acquit the defendant of the higher crime and convict him of the lesser, putative crime. Utah Code Ann. § 76-33-6 reads:

The jury may find the defendant guilty of any offense the commission of which is necessarily included in that with which he is charged in the indictment or information, or of an attempt to commit the offense.

In State v. Bender, 581 P.2d 1019, 1020 (Utah 1978) this Court stated that the above section is governed by Utah Code Annotated § 76-1-402(4) (1953, as amended), under which:

The court shall not be obligated to charge the jury with respect to an

included offense unless there is a rational basis for a verdict acquitting the defendant of the offense charged and convicting him of the included offense. (Emphasis added.)

The Court also noted that this statute is a codification of case law which extends back to 1889. People v. Robinson, 6 Utah 101, 21 P. 403 (1889).

In State v. Dougherty, 550 P.2d 175 (Utah 1976), the defendant was convicted of the crime of unlawful distribution for value of a controlled substance. He appealed, alleging that the trial court erred in refusing to give an instruction on the lesser included offense of possession of a controlled substance. In affirming the conviction, this Honorable Court held that where defense testimony could prove only complete innocence, the defendant was not entitled to an instruction on the lesser included offense. This Court citing Lisby v. State, 83 Nev. 183, 414 P.2d 592 (1966), enunciated the three situations in which the question of whether to instruct on lesser included offenses are frequently encountered:

. . . First, where there is evidence which would absolve the defendant from guilt of a greater offense, or degree, but would support a finding of guilt of a lesser offense, or degree; the instruction is mandatory.

Second, where the evidence would not support a finding of guilt in the commission of the lesser offense or degree. For example, the defendant denies any complicity in the crime charged, and thus lays no foundation for any intermediate verdict, or where the elements of the offense differ, and some element essential to the lesser offense is either not proved or shown not to exist. This second situation renders an instruction on a lesser included offense erroneous, because it is not pertinent.

Third, is an intermediate situation. One where the elements of the greater offense include all the elements of the lesser offense; because, by its very nature, the greater offense could not have been committed without defendant having the intent in doing the acts, which constitute the lesser offense. In such a situation instructions on the lesser included offense may be given because all elements of the lesser offense have been proved. However, such an instruction may properly be refused if the prosecution has met its burden of proof of the greater offense, and there is no evidence tending to reduce the greater offense. 550 P.2d at 176, 177. (Emphasis added.)

This was affirmed in State v. Pierre, 572 P.2d 1338 (Utah 1977); State v. Bell, 563 P.2d 186 (Utah 1977). Thus an instruction is not properly given if there is no evidence to support a conviction on the lesser offense and acquit the appellant of the greater offense.

Furthermore, if a defendant's theory of the case is all theory and no evidence, or based on the evidence, so unreasonable that it does not satisfy the requirements of a

defense, no instruction thereon is required. See Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-201, et seq. (1953, as amended).

The appellant correctly states that in order to have instructions on lesser included offenses given there must be a basis for acquitting the defendant of the greater crime and convicting him of the lesser.

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